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This matter is before the Board on Professional Responsibility (the “Board”) as a result of 

Respondent’s conviction in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey (the 

“New Jersey Court”) of six counts of mail and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 

1343, 1346 & 2, one count of solicitation and acceptance of a corrupt payment or benefit in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B), and five separate counts of mail fraud in violation of  

18 U.S.C. § 1341.  For the reasons that follow, the Board recommends that the Court disbar 

Respondent pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-2503(a) based on his conviction of a crime of moral 

turpitude per se.  

 I. BACKGROUND 

Respondent was admitted to the District of Columbia Bar on August 9, 1978, and 

administratively suspended for non-payment of Bar dues on October 1, 2009.  On July 24, 2009, 

Respondent was found guilty by a jury on 12 counts of a 13-count indictment of the felony 

crimes of mail and wire fraud and solicitation and acceptance of a corrupt payment or benefit.  

Respondent was sentenced to 48 months’ imprisonment on each of the 12 counts, to be served 
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concurrently.  He was also fined $25,000 and ordered to pay restitution in the amount of 

$113,167.  Respondent’s conviction is pending appeal. 

Respondent did not report the criminal conviction to the Court and the Board as required 

by D.C. Bar R. XI, § 10(a).  Bar Counsel learned of Respondent’s guilty plea from the ABA 

National Lawyer Regulatory Data Bank.  On June 11, 2010, Bar Counsel filed certified copies of 

the criminal judgment with the Court.  On June 25, 2010, the Court suspended Respondent 

pursuant to D.C. Bar R. XI, § 10(c) and directed the Board to institute a formal proceeding to 

determine whether the crime involves moral turpitude within the meaning of D.C. Code  

§ 11-2503(a).  Order, In re Bryant, No. 10-BG-696 (D.C. June 25, 2010).  

On July 14, 2010, Bar Counsel filed a statement with the Board recommending 

Respondent’s disbarment pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-2503(a) for commission of a crime of 

moral turpitude per se.  Respondent did not file a response to Bar Counsel’s statement.  

Respondent also did not file the affidavit required by D.C. Bar R. XI, § 14(g) following entry of 

the Court’s order of suspension.   

II. ANALYSIS 

 
D.C. Code § 11-2503(a) requires the mandatory disbarment of a member of the District 

of Columbia Bar convicted of a crime of moral turpitude.  A crime of moral turpitude is an 

offense against “the generally accepted moral code of mankind.”  In re Colson, 412 A.2d 1160, 

1168 (D.C. 1979) (en banc).  Conviction of felony offenses “which manifestly involve moral 

turpitude by virtue of their underlying elements” mandate disbarment without inquiry into the 

specific conduct that led to the conviction.  Id. at 1164.  Once the Court has determined that a 

particular crime involves moral turpitude per se, the Board must adhere to that determination and 

only considers whether the attorney was convicted of the crime charged.  See id. at 1165. 



 3

The Court has repeatedly held that mail and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C.  

§§ 1341, 1343 & 1346, are crimes of moral turpitude per se.  See, e.g., In re Leffler, 940 A.2d 

105, 106 (D.C. 2007) (per curiam); In re Evans, 793 A.2d 468 (D.C. 2002) (per curiam).1  

Accordingly, Respondent’s disbarment is required under D.C. Code § 11-2503(a).   

III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Board recommends that the Court disbar Respondent 

pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-2503(a) based on his conviction of a crime of moral turpitude per 

se.2 Respondent’s disbarment should be effective immediately but run, for purposes of 

reinstatement, from the date he files the affidavit required by D.C. Bar R. XI, § 14(g).  See In re 

Slosberg, 650 A.2d 1329, 1331 (D.C. 1994). 
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    By:  /JSK/     
          Jean S. Kapp 

 
Dated:  September 22, 2010 
 
  

All members of the Board concur in this Report and Recommendation except Mr. Yaffe, 
who did not participate. 
 

                                                 
1 The Court has not previously examined whether the crime of solicitation or acceptance of a corrupt payment or 
benefit in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(B) involves moral turpitude per se.  However, the Board need not reach 
the issue because “[w]hen convictions on more than one count are involved, disbarment is mandated if any one of 
them involves moral turpitude.”  In re Libby, 945 A.2d 1169 (D.C. 2008) (per curiam) (citing In re Lipari, 704 A.2d 
851, 852 (D.C.1997)).    
2 Under In re Hirschfeld, 622 A.2d 688 (D.C. 1993), the Board is to forward its recommendation to the Court, 
notwithstanding the pendency of an appeal, and the Court withholds formal action until after it receives certification 
of the final judgment on appeal.  If the conviction in this matter is upheld, Bar Counsel should file the certified copy 
of the final judgment with the Court so that the Court can take final action.  If the conviction is reversed, Bar 
Counsel should promptly notify the Court.   
  


